VIII

Policies and Procedures Governing Academic Senate, Faculty, Divisions, And Departments

CONTENTS

A.	Academic Senate and Faculty 1
	. Role and Function
	2. Membership and Voting Eligibility
	3. Officers
	I. Meetings
	5. Rules and Procedures
	5. Honorary Degrees
B.	All-Faculty Group
	. Function ϵ
	2. Organization
	3. Meetings
C.	Disciplinary Groups
D.	Departments and Programs
	. Role and Function
	2. Officers
	3. Meetings
	Assessment and Review of Departments and Programs
E.	Schools
F.	Committee Structure and Responsibilities
	. Role of Committees
	2. Committees of the Academic Senate and Faculty 10
	3. Other Policy Manual Committees
	I. Special Committees
	5. Procedures for Election of Faculty Committee Members
	5. Procedures for Temporary Suspension of Standing Committees
	7. Procedures for the Permanent Dissolution of Standing Committees
G.	Policies Pertaining to Department of Education and Youth Studies Administration and Faculty Service Load

VIII

Policies and Procedures Governing Academic Senate, Faculty, Divisions, And Departments

A. Academic Senate and Faculty

1. Role and Function

a. Academic Senate

The Academic Senate shall carry major and direct responsibility for the educational program of the college. It shall exercise effective control over academic standards, and over all curricular matters, except for those matters specifically designated by the college Charter to be the function of the faculty. Major Academic Senate legislation is subject to the final jurisdiction of the board of trustees. The Senate shall maintain a close relationship to the admissions, business, public relations and development functions of the college.

If the President of the College, in consultation with the Provost and the Chairs of ASP, FS&P, and COA, determines that the normal operations of the College and the ability of the Academic Senate to gather are disrupted significantly due to local, regional, or national events, such as but not limited to a catastrophic weather event or a pandemic, but not to include a college-specific budgetary crisis, an Emergency Academic Authority (EAA) will be convened, and Academic Senate members will be notified. The EAA will include the Provost, the Associate Dean(s) of Academic Affairs, the Registrar, the Chairs of ASP, FS&P and COA, and an additional faculty member appointed from and by the current faculty members of ASP, FS&P, and COA, or their designees. The EAA shall have authority to act as the voting members of the Academic Senate as a means to continue the academic business of the College and to act on any significant changes to the academic program in a timely manner.

The EAA will work collaboratively with the president. When feasible, comments and suggestions will be sought from members of the Academic Senate before the EAA acts. Members of the Academic Senate (as outlined in the APM) will be informed of any changes made to the academic program because of an emergency. The EAA can be disbanded by a majority vote of the Academic Senate at a special meeting called for the sole purpose of considering a motion to return oversight of the academic program to the Academic Senate. Such a special meeting can be called by one-sixth of the resident members of the Senate or upon the request of the Faculty Status and Performance Committee.

When the President, in consultation with the EAA, determines that the College can resume normal operations, the Academic Senate will resume oversight of the academic program at Beloit College. Emergency academic authority given to the EAA is initially granted for no more than three months, but may be renewed if a catastrophic emergency persists. If, during an ongoing emergency, some of the academic business of the College can safely be conducted by the Academic Senate, the Provost and ASP shall, in consultation with other faculty bodies as needed, remand that business to the Academic Senate while the EAA remains convened.

If the Provost and ASP determine it is unsafe, unfeasible, or otherwise impractical for Academic Senate to meet in-person, they may call the Academic Senate to meet remotely.

Remote meetings of the Academic Senate shall be conducted through use of Internet meeting services designated by the Provost and ASP that support anonymous voting and support visible displays identifying those participating, identifying those seeking recognition to speak, showing (or permitting the retrieval of) the text of pending motions, and showing the results of votes. These remote meetings shall be subject to all rules adopted by the Academic Senate to govern them, which may include any reasonable limitations on, and requirements for, Senate members' participation. An anonymous vote conducted through a voting system supported by the designated Internet meeting service shall be deemed a ballot vote, fulfilling any requirement in the bylaws or rules that a vote be conducted by ballot.

b. Faculty

The faculty, a community of professional scholars and teachers joined together as a collegium to advance the cause of learning within the framework of the educational philosophy of Beloit College, is the segment of the college most directly involved in the academic function. Faculty members exercise their major legislative responsibility for the quality of the academic program in order to assure the highest possible degree of academic vitality and professional competence. Degrees are awarded by the board of trustees on recommendation of the faculty, which certifies students for graduation and candidates for honorary degrees. The right of final jurisdiction over primary academic matters, inherent in the legal position of the board of trustees, is exercised by the Board only on a *pro forma* basis or in those special cases where major budgetary or broad institutional policy questions are involved.

2. Membership and Voting Eligibility

a. Academic Senate

The voting members of the Academic Senate shall consist of all voting members of the faculty, the president, the provost, the registrar, the chief information officer, the vice president of strategic planning and career development, the dean of students, the director of the Logan Museum, the senior director of Global and Immersive Learning, and nine students, two from each of the four class years, and the president of the Beloit Student Government. No student on academic probation shall be eligible to run for or to retain such office. Administrative officers of the college and members of the faculty not included above may participate as non-voting members. Emeriti faculty may attend Academic Senate meetings and participate in discussion. Those eligible to vote in Senate meetings may exercise their franchise only in person.

Students shall be elected to the Academic Senate on the basis of class year, with two elected from and by each class. A yearly election will be held in the second week of fall

term. Elections will be publicized by Student Affairs at registration and on campus prior to the election, and faculty and staff will be asked to announce the elections and to encourage voting. Student Affairs will be ultimately responsible for holding the election, tabulating votes, and announcing results. Students whose service as senators is terminated prior to the end of an elected term shall be replaced with students from the same class chosen by the other student senators from that class year in consultation with the president of the Beloit Student Government and the provost.

b. Faculty

The voting members of the faculty shall consist of tenured and tenure-track faculty members, adjunct (but not visiting) faculty members teaching the equivalent of at least four courses per year, the president, and the provost. The Faculty Status and Performance Committee serves as a board of review for cases of personnel having uncertain voting status. The faculty acts on the committee's recommendations. Those eligible to vote in faculty meetings may exercise their franchise only in person.

- 3. Officers
- a. Presiding Officer

The presiding officer at meetings of the Academic Senate or the faculty shall be the president or provost. In the event neither is able to chair the meeting, a temporary substitute shall be appointed.

b. Secretary

A secretary of the Academic Senate shall be appointed by the provost. The secretary shall take and preserve minutes of every regular and special meeting of the Academic Senate and see to their distribution and preservation. The secretary shall distribute and collect ballots for election of faculty members to committees.

c. Parliamentarian

A parliamentarian, appointed by the provost, shall give interpretations of procedure when requested by the chair, or upon their own volition.

4. Meetings

Regular meetings of the Academic Senate shall normally be held on the third Wednesday of each month at 4 p.m. Special meetings may be called by the president or the provost. Meetings of the faculty shall be held on the call of the president or the provost. Special meetings of either body must be called upon written petition of one-sixth of the resident members of the Senate or upon the request of the Faculty Status and Performance Committee.

- 5. Rules and Procedures
- a. Parliamentary Rule

Senate meetings and meetings of the faculty shall be conducted in accordance with procedures stated in this chapter, any additional regulations which the Senate or the faculty may from time to time prescribe, and *Robert's Rules of Order*. Senate or faculty rules and procedures take precedence. Interpretations of the chair or the Parliamentarian shall be followed unless they are protested by any member. If the interpretations are not

specifically covered by the above regulations, these interpretations are subject to majority vote of the Senate or the faculty.

b. Quorum

A number of voting members equal to three-fifths of the number of voting members in residence shall constitute a quorum. Voting members on sabbatical or other temporary leaves shall not count as in residence for the purposes of constituting quorum, though they retain full voting privileges if they attend a Senate meeting while on leave.

c. Balloting

A secret ballot may be ordered by any of the following: (1) the presiding officer; (2) the chair of the Faculty Status and Performance Committee; (3) a request by any 10 voting members. A motion is approved when it receives a majority of the votes cast, provided, however, that the number of votes on the majority side shall not be less than a majority of a quorum.

d. Revision of Senate Rules and Procedures

All proposed changes in the Rules and Procedures of the Academic Senate must be approved by the Academic Senate. The provost will decide on the importance of the changes to determine whether the change must be sent to other bodies for approval. Changes in Academic Senate-Administrative Committees' jurisdiction or composition shall be made by mutual consent of the Senate and the provost. Proposal for revision normally will come to Senate from the Academic Strategic Planning Committee, from the Curriculum Oversight and Administration Committee, or the Faculty Status and Performance Committee, in which case they shall be circulated by the provost's office as downloadable online documents via the academic affairs website to members of the Senate 52 hours in advance of the Senate meeting at which the recommendation is to be considered. Proposals not so submitted must be held over until the next meeting of the Academic Senate. Identical procedures cover rules of the faculty.

e. Committee Recommendations

The chair of any standing or *ad hoc* committee reporting to the Senate shall submit to the provost's office any recommendation 56 hours in advance of the Senate meeting at which the recommendation is to be considered. The provost's office will then circulate proposals as downloadable online documents via the academic affairs website or by paper copy to members of the Senate 52 hours in advance of the Senate meeting at which the recommendation is to be considered. If any action of a committee is not unanimous, it shall be the privilege of any member of the minority to distribute, in like manner, a statement of their views. Identical procedures shall be followed for meetings of the faculty.

f. Other Motions

Any member of the Academic Senate, whether or not eligible to vote, may submit motions, recommendations, or resolutions not covered in items (4) or (5) above. Such motions should be circulated by paper copy to each member of the Academic Senate 48 hours in advance of the Senate meeting at which the recommendation is to be considered. If any item so submitted is ruled by the chair to constitute a major change in policy, then at least one month must elapse before the item can be voted on.

g. Confidential Nature of Action

The deliberations of the faculty, although not those of the Academic Senate, are confidential and should not be discussed outside the membership. Official announcement of Academic Senate or faculty actions shall be made only by the proper officer, usually the provost, except as noted in Section h below.

h. Reports of Academic Senate Proceedings

The *Round Table* is authorized to report on proceedings of the Academic Senate and to have one reporter present at meetings (a student senator or other student). Considering the responsibility and possible legal liability which such a privilege entails, the following conditions shall attach: (1) direct or paraphrased quotations attributed to individual senators may be used only if the text has been approved for accuracy by the person being quoted; and (2) any published report shall be signed by the reporter.

- i. Procedures for Reviewing and Approval of Academic Senate Actions Actions of the Academic Senate are subject to review by the provost. All measures adopted by the Senate will be transmitted to the provost for action within ten days of reception of same.
- 6. Honorary Degrees
- a. Honorary degrees from Beloit College shall be granted in accordance with the following policy:
 - i. Candidates shall be prominent in representing the ideals for which Beloit College stands. Their achievement shall be extraordinary.
 - ii. Particular consideration shall be given to those candidates who have made a special contribution to or have a natural connection with the college.
- b. The submission of names of candidates fulfilling the above criteria shall regularly be encouraged by the president of the college in communications with trustees, faculty, alumni, students and other members of the college constituency. The president may also establish such other research procedures as they may deem desirable in the determination of appropriate candidates for honorary degree consideration. Nominees can be submitted to the president at any time and from any source.
- c. Preliminary screening of all candidates will be done by the Faculty Status and Performance Committee. All suggestions made in writing and signed by the proposer, if requested by the proposer, must be referred by the president to this joint committee for consideration.
- d. Candidates approved by consensus of the committee shall be recommended to the faculty for consideration. Those candidates subsequently approved by the faculty by a two-thirds favorable vote shall be referred to the board of trustees for final consideration and action. A two-thirds favorable vote by this body also shall be required.
- e. The particular degree awarded in each case will conform to what is appropriate to the particular situation and individual being honored and acceptable to general practice.

B. All-Faculty Group

1. Function

- a. The All-Faculty Group will serve to assess and advance issues relating to interdisciplinary or and/or all-college curriculum, policies and procedures. The All-Faculty Group will also specifically consider: (1) agenda items proposed by ASP, FS&P, COA, Disciplinary Groups, and group members; (2) policy changes under consideration by ASP, FS&P, COA, and Senior Staff; (3) significant changes to the APM (prior to Senate meeting at which the recommendations are to be considered); (4) significant changes to majors, minors, interdisciplinary programs, and initiative programs.
- b. The All-Faculty Group may: (1) propose agenda items for Disciplinary Groups and/or other major or minor committees; (2) vote (by simple majority) to propose items for discussion or vote by the Academic Senate.

2. Organization

At the beginning of each academic year, all faculty members and staff members with teaching responsibilities and/or responsibilities related to curriculum and/or faculty development will be considered part of the cross-disciplinary All-Faculty Group. If the business at hand suggests the need for a different way of organizing faculty, the group itself, the committee chairs, and/or the provost may suggest the constitution of alternative groups.

3. Meetings

Meetings of the All-Faculty Group will be scheduled on at least two Wednesdays each semester. The agenda for meetings will be set collaboratively by the chairs of ASP, COA, and FS&P in consultation with the provost; other faculty or programs may propose agenda items that the group may choose to discuss. The Chair of ASP will submit agendas and all other materials to the Office of Academic Affairs which will make available the agenda and all materials on its website 52 hours in advance of each meeting; there will be time set aside in each meeting for new business. The chairs of ASP, COA, and FS&P will co-chair the meetings unless otherwise decided by the group by a simple majority vote. Attendance at meetings is expected of every faculty member in residence. At the conclusion of each meeting the group will agree about what the major committee chairs will report to the Provost regarding the proceedings.

C. Disciplinary Groups

1. Function

a. Each Disciplinary Group will serve to assess and advance programming, curriculum development, and policy changes relevant to the disciplines represented among group members. Disciplinary Groups will also specifically consider: (1) agenda items proposed by ASP, FS&P, COA, the All-Faculty Group, Disciplinary Groups, and group members; (2) policy changes under consideration by ASP, FS&P, COA, and Senior Staff; (3) significant changes to the APM (prior to the Senate meeting at which the

recommendations are to be considered); (4) significant changes to majors, minors, interdisciplinary programs, and initiative programs.

b. Disciplinary Groups may: (1) propose agenda items for the All-Faculty Group and/or other Disciplinary Groups; (2) vote (by simple majority) to propose items for discussion or vote by the Academic Senate; (3) invite members of Senior Staff to discuss issues of concern to group members.

c. The ASP, FS&P, and COA representatives present in each Disciplinary Group will report any significant discussion(s) and recommendation(s) to their respective committees at the next proximate committee meeting.

d. Disciplinary Groups will approve changes to majors and minors prior to the Senate meeting at which the recommendations are to be considered. COA will determine which Disciplinary Group must vote to approve which departmental/program changes.

2. Organization

All faculty members and staff members with teaching responsibilities and/or responsibilities related to curriculum and/or faculty development can choose to participate in one of four Disciplinary Groups, with at least one member of ASP, COA, and FS&P in each group; the four Disciplinary Groups will be called: "Fine and Performing Arts," "Humanities," "Social Sciences," and "Natural Sciences and Mathematics." With the exception of the ASP, COA, and FS&P representatives in each group, all participants may choose to attend any of the four groups during any meeting session. Students may elect which Disciplinary Group they wish to belong to and participate in meetings for that Disciplinary Group. If the business at hand suggests the need for a different way of organizing faculty, the groups themselves, committee chairs, and/or the provost may suggest the constitution of alternative groups.

3. Meetings

Meetings of the Disciplinary Groups will be scheduled to at least two Wednesdays each semester. The agenda for Disciplinary Groups meetings will be set collaboratively by the chairs of ASP, COA, and FS&P in consultation with the provost; other faculty or programs may propose agenda items that Disciplinary Groups may choose to discuss. The Chair of COA will submit agendas and all other materials to the Office of Academic Affairs, which will make available the agenda and all materials on its website 52 hours in advance of each meeting; there will be time set aside in each meeting for new business. The COA representative assigned to each group will chair the meetings. Attendance at meetings is expected of every faculty member in residence.

D. Departments and Programs

1. Role and Function

Departments and programs shall consist of faculty appointed to teach within certain areas of academic expertise and who by consequence fix the requirements of major and minors, subject to final approval by the Academic Senate. The successful functioning of the academic program depends on the proper functioning of the departments and programs.

2. Officers

The chair of a department or program shall be appointed by the provost in consultation with the department and the Faculty Status and Performance Committee. Ordinarily, the term of appointment is for three years, after which the appointment may be renewed.

The department chair is responsible for departmental policy and conduct in three general areas:

- a. Departmental Curriculum and All-College Contributions
 - The chair shall provide leadership and guidance in the development and maintenance of a strong departmental curriculum, as determined both by disciplinary considerations and in relation to all-college academic programs. The chair must ensure that the departmental program meets professional standards established by the discipline. They must also ensure that the department contributes as much as possible to the college's all-college programs, its admissions efforts and to the maintenance of strong relations with alumni and other constituencies.
- b. Staff Development

The chair shall provide leadership and guidance in the professional development of department staff as teachers, scholars, advisors, and members of the campus community. This includes assistance in the development of appropriate professional goals for all department faculty. The chair is responsible for recruitment and evaluation of staff, and will make recommendations to the provost with respect to staff, salaries, and promotion.

c. Administrative Routine

In consultation with the department staff, the chair shall be responsible for presiding over departmental meetings, assigning courses, arranging class schedules, overseeing departmental planning, and handling and discharging all other duties incident to administrative routine. The chair shall act as spokesperson for the department in relation to the provost, other department chairs, other administrative offices of the college, and appropriate professional organizations.

Service as chair may warrant some release from teaching, depending on departmental and college needs, and as determined through consultation among the chair, department staff, the Faculty Status and Performance Committee, and the provost.

- 3. Meetings
- a. Department and Program Chairs The provost shall establish and chair a conference of department and program chairs, to meet at least twice per semester, with authority to advise the provost and to propose policy.
- Departments and Programs
 Meetings of departments and programs will be held on the call of the chair or upon agreement of members. Normally, each will meet as is necessary to conduct business within its own mandate. Attendance at meetings is expected of every faculty member in residence.
- 4. Assessment and Review of Departments and Programs

Beloit College engages in the review of academic departments and programs as a way of assessing the effectiveness of its curricula and of ensuring that its academic programming meets the needs of both current and prospective students.

a. External Review of Departments and Programs

Academic departments and programs that offer majors shall undergo external review, ordinarily at least every ten years. At the discretion of the provost, other academic programs, including interdisciplinary minors, may be reviewed following recommendation by program faculty, the Academic Strategic Planning Committee, and/or the Curriculum Oversight and Administration Committee.

The provost, in consultation with the Academic Strategic Planning Committee and the Curriculum Oversight and Administration Committee, is responsible for identifying departments and programs and outlining broad goals for review. The college's Accreditation Liaison Officer (ALO) at the instruction of the provost, administers the review process and works with departments/programs to refine the review's goals and to lay out procedures.

The format and scope of reviews vary in accordance with the immediate and/or projected context of the individual programs being reviewed, their needs and goals, and the larger interests of the college. The department or program under review will submit a report on the review to the provost, the Academic Strategic Planning Committee, and the Curriculum Oversight and Administration Committee. Further follow-up steps, as needed, will be determined by the provost, department or program, and/or the committees at that time.

E. Schools

Schools are an organizing framework that explicitly aligns students' academic pursuits with their application in the world of work. Schools provide a suite of support structures, thematic programming, specialized credentials, and extra-classroom opportunities that complement more traditional academic offerings by creating direct linkages between disciplinary study and the exploration of careers and professional pathways.

The director of a school facilitates coordination with relevant department/program chairs and school-affiliated faculty regarding the school's professional focus and career development programs.

Faculty may participate in one or more schools.

F. Committee Structure and Responsibilities

- 1. Role of Committees
- a. The Senate functions not only through its regular and special meetings but through standing, special, and *ad hoc* committees. These normally report to and are responsible to the Senate. Committee members are appointed by the provost or elected by the faculty, or elected or confirmed by the Academic Senate. Certain committees are described below.
- b. Committees of the Academic Senate or the faculty shall make recommendations to the administration and to the Senate and/or faculty as appropriate with regard to policy matters, and also shall serve in a decision-making capacity within their respective areas of concern.
- 2. Committees of the Academic Senate and Faculty
- a. Academic Performance Committee
 - i. Function

This committee shall consult with the registrar on the handling of academic records of students and alumni, and shall supervise the academic performance of students in accordance with the requirements established by the Academic Senate including curriculum, resources to support the college's academic programs, and the ethical implications of academic policies. The committee shall act on individual petitions from students with regard to academic regulations, warning, probation, suspension, and dismissal. The committee also reviews and makes recommendations to the provost for honors terms.

ii. Membership

The dean of students, or their designee, as chair; two faculty members appointed by the combined membership of FS&P and ASP; and the registrar. The associate dean of students or their designee, a representative from the Office of Student

- b. Academic Strategic Planning Committee
 - i. Function

This committee shall focus on comprehensive planning for the strategic needs of the academic program of the college. The committee will operate in the following specific capacities:

- (a) To collect, analyze, and disseminate data integral to the internal and external contexts of the college
- (b) To review Academic Affairs budgeting
- (c) To review and assess program and department development and performance
- (d) To evaluate tenure-track and teaching fellows proposals in light of internal and external contexts, Beloit's mission and its resource framework
- (e) To solicit, consider, and propose curricular innovations based on internal and external contexts, Beloit's mission, and its resource framework
- (f) To plan and respond to accreditation reviews
- (g) To attend meetings of the board of trustees, including meetings of appropriate board committees, on a non-voting basis and subject to the invitations of the board on each occasion
- (h) With the Faculty Status and Performance Committee, to appoint faculty members to non-elected committees.
- ii. Membership

Five tenured faculty members elected at large for staggered two-year terms. The provost, dean of students, and a representative from the Office of Institutional Research, Assessment, and Planning shall be *ex officio* non-voting members. The voting members of the committee shall elect its chair.

- c. Admissions and Financial Aid Policy Committee
 - i. Function

This committee shall review current policies in the area of admissions, recruitment, and financial aid, and shall make recommendations for strengthening the program that are consistent with the enrollment and fiscal goals set by the board of trustees and the college's plan to achieve a diverse student body.

The work of the committee shall:

- (a) Strengthen and monitor the quality of the student body
- (b) Evaluate and enhance admissions and financial aid programs to support the racial, ethnic, socio-economic, and international diversity of the student body
- (c) Review national and international trends that have implications for Beloit's enrollment goals, including but not limited to
 - use of standardized test
 - evaluation of high school academic programs
 - legislation affecting college admissions
 - financial aid

Recommendations from the committee may be made through the Academic Senate to the administration.

ii. Membership

The vice president for enrollment (chair), two faculty members appointed by the combined membership of FS&P and ASP (one faculty member shall serve as vice chair of the committee, elected from within the committee); two students elected from the student members of the Academic Senate; two members of the enrollment staff, appointed by the vice president for enrollment; and the director of Financial Aid. Although not a formal member of the committee, the director of Institutional Research, Assessment and Planning will serve in consultation with the committee as needed.

d. Appeals Committee

i. Function

This committee shall consider and investigate appeals from faculty when the Faculty Status and Performance Committee or the provost has recommended that a faculty member's contract should not be renewed or should be terminated before its expiration.

For an explanation of the appeals process procedures, see Chapter VI, Section F.

ii. Membership

Three faculty members elected at large for staggered three-year terms. An election shall take place in the spring prior to the academic year during which the committee may hear appeals. Faculty shall be nominated and elected in accordance with *Administrative Policy Manual* procedures for electing members to the Faculty Status and Performance Committee. The runner-up in the election shall serve as alternate.

Members of the Faculty Status and Performance Committee and the college administration shall not be eligible for nomination to the committee. An elected member shall be replaced by the alternate if the electee is a member of the The chair of the committee shall be elected by the committee.

- e. Curriculum Oversight and Administration Committee
 - i. Function

This committee shall oversee existing academic programs, and advise the provost on matters pertaining to academic administration. The committee shall operate in the following specific capacities:

- (a) To evaluate and approve all new course and program proposals
- (b) To design and promote curricular linkages among disciplines, programs, and all-college educational goals
- (c) To devise instruments for the assessment of teaching and learning
- (d) To monitor the number, breadth, and enrollment patterns of courses each semester
- ii. Membership

Two full-time, tenured faculty members and two full-time, tenured or tenure-track faculty members who have been on the tenure track at Beloit College for at least three years, and two student senators. For election purposes only, each member of the faculty will choose a primary affiliation with one of the following four areas of inquiry:

- Fine and performing arts
- Humanities
- Social sciences
- Natural sciences and mathematics

Four faculty members, each affiliated with one such area, shall be elected for staggered two-year terms. The two students shall be selected by the student members of Academic Senate. The registrar, the dean or associate dean of students, the provost or an associate dean of the college, and a representative from the Office of Institutional Research, Assessment and Planning shall be *ex-officio* non-voting members, except in the case of a tie vote, at which time the attending provost or associate dean of the college shall vote. The voting members of the committee shall elect its chair.

f. Faculty Status and Performance Committee

i. Function

This committee shall help the administration, faculty, and Senate in the formulation and implementation of policies that will maintain and strengthen the

professional status and teaching effectiveness of the faculty. The provost shall consult with the committee every fall and spring semester regarding the planning of the college budget for the fiscal year, particularly on the priority to be given to faculty salaries and other compensation. The committee will operate in the following specific capacities:

- (a) To advise the administration on all contemplated promotions, reappointments, and employment terminations, and to serve both faculty and administration in helping to resolve any cases of grievance arising therefrom.
- (b) To see that the faculty personnel policies regarding appointments, promotions, and permanent tenure are carried out, and to advise the administration in considering cases that seem to be legitimate exceptions to these general provisions.
- (c) To advise the administration on all cases involving permanent tenure.
- (d) To represent the faculty in periodic review with the administration of existing and contemplated compensation plans and policies, salary schedules, and fringe benefits, but not individual salary arrangements.
- (e) To serve as a review board in cases of doubt with regard to voting eligibility laws.
- (f) To counsel the provost on the appointment and removal of school directors and departmental/program chairs.
- (g) With the Academic Strategic Planning Committee, to appoint faculty members to non-elected committees.
- (h) To advise the administration on applications for leave.
- (i) To provide preliminary screening of Honorary Degree candidates presented by the president.
- (j) Subject to invitation, to attend meetings of the board of trustees, including meetings of appropriate board committees, on a non-voting basis and to speak as a conveyor of faculty views and sentiments as expressed in the formal meetings of the Academic Senate and of the faculty. The chair of the Faculty Status and Performance Committee speaks for the Academic Senate and for the faculty in any official communiqués, and letters, memorials, or resolutions that may be issued in the name of the Academic Senate or the faculty of Beloit College.
- ii. Membership

Five elected faculty members. The chair of the committee shall be elected by the committee. The president and the provost are non-voting *ex officio* members of the committee.

The Faculty Status and Performance Committee ordinarily will meet without its *ex officio* members; exceptions may be made at the request of any *ex officio* member and the chair of the committee.

The chair or other representatives of the committee may attend meetings of the board of trustees, including meetings of appropriate board committees. Such attendance shall be on a non-voting basis, and subject to the invitation of the board on each occasion.

g. Judicial Board

i. Function

This committee shall serve as an appeal board for eligible disciplinary decisions made by the dean of students. Appeals may be made concerning either the question of innocence or guilt or the appropriateness of the disciplinary action taken. It shall serve as a hearing body in cases where charges are brought by some person or body outside the Office of the Dean of Students (e.g., a student, resident assistant, member of the campus security force, etc.) or, in certain cases by the dean of students when the dean feels that they cannot provide a fair hearing for the defendant or that a community hearing is appropriate. The board shall hold an organizational meeting at the beginning of the fall term to review procedures. The organizational meeting may not be at a hearing at which a case is considered.

ii. Membership

Two faculty appointed from the membership of the Academic Performance Committee, one administrative staff member and one alternate selected by the vice president for Enrollment Services, neither of whom shall be members of the Student Affairs staff, one student academic senator, and one BSC representative. An additional faculty member, student senator, and BSC representative shall also be appointed to serve as alternates. The dean of students shall select from among these alternates when schedules preclude the permanent members from attending the hearing. The dean of students may also substitute a board member if the dean determines there is a perceived conflict of interest. The dean of students serves as an *ex officio*, non-voting member, except when the board is hearing an appeal board for disciplinary decisions made by the dean of students, although the dean may be present and serve as witness or prosecutor. The board shall elect a chairperson from its own membership, except that the dean of students is ineligible to serve as chair.

- 3. Other Policy Manual Committees
- a. Budget Committee
 - i. Function
 - (a) The committee oversees unrestricted operating budget and resource use as they affect the college, including, but not limited to, the instructional budget, the academic support budget, the student support budget, the

institutional support budget as well as the allocation of new funds and special funds.

- (b) As appropriate, the committee will take into account how changes in the college's balance sheet and capital budget impact the operating budget and make recommendations to Senior Staff and/or the Board of Trustees about how to use these accounts to better achieve the college's mission and economic health through their impact on operations.
- (c) The committee oversees the development of annual and multi-year enrollment and financial assumptions that are realistic in order to ensure a sustainable budget and provide the maximum level of funding for college operations.
- (d) The committee oversees the formulation of the policies, priorities, and guidelines by which college financial resources are requested and allocated.
- (e) The committee ensures that budget and financial reports are provided to the Academic Senate, the All-Staff meeting, and the Board of Trustees, and made available to the campus community on a semi-annual basis.
- ii. Membership

Provost; Vice President and Chief Financial Officer (CFO); Vice President for Strategic Planning & Career Development; three (3) staff members appointed by the President; and four (4) faculty members (one from ASP, one from FS&P, and two appointed by the combined membership of FS&P and ASP.) Appointed faculty members shall serve two-year, staggered terms.

- iii. Officers of the Committee
 - (a) The Vice President and CFO shall serve as a co-chair of the committee; either the ASP or FS&P representative shall serve as faculty co-chair for the committee.
 - (b) The Office of Accounting and Finance shall provide support for the committee, including setting the agenda for the meeting in consultation with the faculty co-chair and providing financial information as requested by the committee.
 - (c) The Executive Assistant to the Vice President and CFO shall serve as recording secretary for the committee.
- b. Personal Harassment Committee
 - i. Function

This committee will serve two primary purposes for the college. First, it will have jurisdiction over allegations of personal harassment against current faculty or staff

members. It will investigate formal complaints, and make recommendations concerning their disposition. At the end of each academic year, in partnership with the Office of Human Resources, it will report the number of informal and formal complaints it received and their disposition to the vice president for human resources and operations.

Second, this committee will serve as an appeals board for all student sexual misconduct and relationship violence judicial cases. The Senior Associate Dean for Student Life will serve as chair of appeals and will contact personal harassment committee members when there is an appeal. Personal harassment committee members will convene to review written appeals, go over the investigation report, and possibly meet with both complainant and accused to hear their written appeal in-person as this option is provided to both parties. The appeals committee will render one of three decisions: uphold the original decision, modify the original decision, or overturn the original decision. Under all circumstances, the appeals committee members will angego in training averaises each

Personal harassment committee members will engage in training exercises each semester. Specifically, a minimum of a half day training will be held twice a year that will focus on but will not be limited to: disciplinary procedure, college response and sanctions, college Title IX protocol, as well as victim trauma, substantiated bias, sexual assault statistics and experiences within higher ed environments, as well as case-studies.

ii. Membership

Two faculty members appointed by the Faculty Status and Performance Committee and the Academic Strategic Planning Committee, one administrative staff member appointed by the president, and one support staff member appointed by the president; staff appointments will be based on recommendations by the dean of students, vice president for human resources and operations, and provost. Appointed faculty members shall serve two-year, staggered terms. The director of Human Resources will serve as an ex officio member. All members of the committee will serve two-year, staggered terms. A chair will be selected by and from within the committee. The Senior Associate Dean for Student Life will only serve in a chair capacity for Title IX student appeals cases (see above). In the event of a conflict of interest, the Faculty Status and Performance Committee and the Academic Strategic Planning Committee shall designate an alternate.

- c. Professional and Program Development Committee
 - i. Function

This committee shall support both the professional development of the faculty and specific curricular development efforts.

- (a) It shall formulate guidelines, publicize available funds, and evaluate proposals from faculty members seeking support for professional development activities.
- (b) It shall facilitate the dissemination of information on internal and external funding sources for faculty and program development.

- (c) It shall encourage faculty development through efforts such as gathering information about and promoting the activities of Faculty Development Groups and sponsoring workshops on teaching.
- ii. Membership

An associate dean of the college (ex-officio) and three faculty members appointed by the combined membership of FS&P and ASP for three-year staggered terms. The three faculty members shall be appointed according to the following criteria: one member shall be appointed from the ranks of tenured faculty; the other two members shall be appointed from tenured or tenure-track faculty who have taught at the college for at least three years.

- d. Global Experience Committee
 - i. Function

This committee shall serve as the advisory body to the Global Experience office on matters, including policy, related to international education, off-campus study, and global learning. In the area of off-campus study, it will review proposals for off-campus study programs, review and recommend policy concerning offcampus study, and be concerned with the preparation of students for off-campus study and follow-up upon their return. The committee will also address curricular issues, faculty and staff development, and other matters related to international education, off-campus study, and global learning. When appropriate, the committee may also serve in a consultative capacity in discussions on other programs administered by the Global Experience Office.

ii. Membership

Three faculty members, appointed by the combined membership of FS&P and ASP in consultation with the senior director of the office; one student, who is a member of the Academic Senate and one staff member appointed by the provost, in consultation with the senior director of the office. Members will serve a two-year term, and these terms will be staggered. The committee shall elect its own chair, Academic Senate liaison, and recording secretary.

4. Special Committees

Among special committees currently existing to serve particular institutional needs and having designated faculty membership are: Fringe Benefits, Health Professions Advisory, Institutional Review Board, Legal Professions Advisory, and Staff Matters.

If the Appeals Committee determines that an appellant's case warrants reconsideration by an Ad Hoc Review Committee, this committee shall be composed of five (in residence) former members of the Faculty Status and Performance Committee in order of most recent service. In any case of tie, membership will be determined by random selection. In the event that fewer than five former members of the Faculty Status and Performance Committee are eligible to serve, the remaining positions will then be filled by eligible faculty using the results from the

most recent election for the Faculty Status and Performance Committee after striking any noneligible faculty. Any person involved in the original recommendation, including the current members of the Faculty Status and Performance Committee, current members of the Appeals Committee, members of the appellant's department, faculty members who have written letters of evaluation pertaining to the candidate, or the college's administrative staff, may not serve on the Ad Hoc Review Committee. The chair of the Ad Hoc Review Committee shall be elected by the committee.

For an explanation of the appeals process and the role of the Ad Hoc Review Committee, see Chapter VI, Section F.

- 5. Procedures for Election of Faculty Committee Members
- a. Faculty Representation and Terms
 - i. No faculty member shall serve on more than three committees. No faculty member shall serve concurrently on the Academic Strategic Planning, Faculty Status and Performance and/or the Curriculum Overview and Administration Committees.
 - ii. Term of service on a committee shall ordinarily consist of two consecutive academic years, with the possibility of re-election.
- b. Election Procedures
 - i. Elections shall be conducted by means of ballots circulated to each voting member of the faculty. These ballots shall be prepared, circulated, and tallied by the secretary of the faculty or their designee. Ballots which are not returned within one week will not be counted. Ties in any election shall be broken by lot.
 - ii. Elections shall normally be conducted during the spring semester, according to the following sequence:
 - (a) Faculty Status and Performance Committee and Academic Strategic Planning Committee.

Each spring the Office of the Provost shall send to each voting member of the faculty two ballots listing all tenured faculty who are not continuing members of the Faculty Status and Performance Committee, the Academic Strategic Planning Committee, and the Curriculum Oversight and Administration Committee. No person who is currently completing a second consecutive term on one of these committees is eligible for nomination to that same committee for one year. The simultaneous elections will be conducted for open slots on both committees, using a two-ballot process. The nominating ballot will include the names of everyone eligible to serve on the committees. Individual voters will nominate one person per open slot for each committee. The final ballot for each committee will be filled by the individuals who receive the highest number of nominations for that committee, for a total of two people per open slot on each committee. Individual voters will vote for one person per slot. The slots will be filled by the individuals receiving the highest number of votes on the final ballot. If any person wins the ballot for both committees, they will serve on whichever of the two committees they prefer. In that case, the person receiving the next highest number of votes for the other committee on the final ballot shall serve.

For any single seat by-election for FS&P and ASP made necessary to fill early vacancies, the person receiving the next highest number of votes for the committee on the final ballot shall serve.

(b) Curriculum Oversight and Administration Committee

Following the election of the members of the Academic Strategic Planning and the Faculty Status and Performance Committee, elections will be held for vacancies on the Curriculum Oversight and Administration Committee. For election purposes only, each member of the faculty will choose a primary affiliation with one of the following four areas of inquiry:

- Fine and performing arts
- Humanities
- Social sciences
- Natural sciences and mathematics

Faculty members representing these areas of inquiry shall be elected by the faculty for staggered two-year terms. The ballot shall list candidates according to the area(s) of inquiry to be filled. Eligible faculty include all tenured or tenure-track faculty who will have been on the Beloit College tenure-track for at least three years, who are expected to be in residence the following year, and who are not continuing members of the Academic Strategic Planning or Faculty Status and Performance Committees. No person who is currently completing a second consecutive term on the Curriculum Oversight and Administration Committee is eligible for nomination to the committee for one year. The election will be conducted by use of a two-ballot process. A nominating ballot containing the names of eligible faculty in each area of inquiry will be distributed to the faculty at large. Individual voters will nominate one person for each area of inquiry. The final ballot for each area of inquiry will consist of the two individuals who receive the highest number of nominations for that area of inquiry,

If fewer than two tenured faculty members will be continuing to serve on the committee, the tenured faculty member receiving the highest percentage of votes in their area of inquiry is elected to the committee. This process continues until the committee includes two tenured members. If additional members remain to be elected, the faculty member (tenured or tenure-track) receiving the highest percentage of votes in their area of inquiry is elected to the committee.

Usually new terms begin at the start of the academic year. In the event that a vacancy occurs during the year, the other candidate in the corresponding field of inquiry on the final ballot shall serve.

(c) Appeals Committee

When the elections for the Curriculum Oversight and Administration Committee are completed, the Office of the Provost shall hold elections for the Appeals Committee.

(d) Other committees

A group comprising the faculty members of the Faculty Status and Performance Committee and the Academic Strategic Planning Committee shall then, in consultation with faculty members, appoint faculty members to fill all other committee vacancies, according to the following rules:

- It shall appoint faculty members for each vacancy on the Academic Performance Committee, Admissions and Financial Aid Committee, the Budget Committee, the Professional and Program Development Committee, the Global Experience Committee, IACUC, IRB, the Fringe Benefits Committee, and the Personal Harassment Committee.
- (2) It shall not appoint any members or members-elect of the Academic and Strategic Planning Committee, the Faculty Status and Performance Committee, or the Curriculum Oversight and Administration Committee.
- (3) It shall not, in general, appoint any person to more than one committee; nor shall it, in general, appoint any person who is already on a committee provided that such person will remain on that committee for at least one more year.
- 6. Procedures for Temporary Suspension of Standing Committees

At times it may be necessary or convenient to temporarily suspend the work of one or more standing committees. The work of a standing committee may be temporarily suspended for a stated period of time with approval of the members of Academic Senate by a simple majority.

a. After the initial suspension has lapsed, the work of a committee may be again suspended for a stated period of time with the approval of the members of the Academic Senate by a simple majority favorable vote.

- b. Reinstatement of the committee prior to the stated period of time requires a majority vote of the Academic Senate.
- 7. Procedures for the Permanent Dissolution of Standing Committees

At times it may be necessary or convenient to permanently dissolve standing committees. If the work of a standing committee is no longer required, the committee will be dissolved following a proposal by the provost or major committee (FS&P, COA, or ASP) and with approval of the members of the Academic Senate by a simple majority.

G. Policies Pertaining to Department of Education and Youth Studies Administration and Faculty Service Load

In compliance with Wisconsin Department of Public Instruction guidelines and regulations, the following policies pertaining to the Department of Education and Youth Studies shall be applicable. All such policies shall be subject to review and interpretation by the provost in consultation with the Faculty Status and Performance Committee.

- 1. The Department of Education and Youth Studies shall be administered by one faculty member who has assigned time for that responsibility. The time may be in the form of a released fraction of a course or in a lighter load relative to supervision duties. This provision recognizes the fact that the head of the Department of Education and Youth Studies as certifying officer has time-consuming obligations to the Wisconsin Department of Public Instruction and to graduates of Beloit College, as well as to cooperating schools and school districts regarding matriculating students.
- 2. The total service load of faculty members in the Department of Education and Youth Studies shall be interpreted to include teaching, scholarship, advising, committee assignments, campus community activities, supervision of Beloit College students assigned to schools, and recruitment, selection, and admission of students.

Date Chgd	Section/Subsection	Approved
02-02-10	Section A, Sub-section 2	AS-09/16/2009
02-02-10	Section D, Sub-section 2 D i and ii	AS-11/18/2009
02-02-10	Section D, Sub-section 4	AS-11/18/2009
02-02-10	Section D, Sub-section 2 g ii	AS-10/21/2009
02-02-10	Section D, Sub-section 5 b ii	AS-10/21/2009
02-02-10	Section D, Sub-section 3 b i and ii	Fall, 2009
02-02-10	Section B, Sub-section 1 b ii	Fall, 2009
05-11-10	Section C, Sub-section 2 a and c	March 22, 2010
05-19-10	Section D, Sub-section 2 f, g, h, I and j	AS-May 2010
11-02-10	Change BelCon to BSC / Style Changes	A.Davies 11/02/10
11-02-10	Section A, Sub-section 5 d	A.Davies 11/02/10
02-21-11	Section D, Sub-section 5 b i	AS-02-18-2011
06-08-11	Section B, New Section C, Re-alpha Sections	AS-04/2011
00-00-11	D, E, and F	A5-07/2011
08/10/11	Section E, Sub-section 2 e	Per A.Davies to reflect current
00/10/11	Section 2, Sub-section 2 c	athletic conference practices
09/22/11	Section A, Sub-section 5 d, e and f	Academic Senate
0)/22/11	Section D, Sub-section 4	Reddenne Senate
01/31/12	Section E, Sub-section 2 h ii.	AS-01/2012
02/21/12	Section A 3 b, E 2 i. I, E 3 e	AS-02/15/2012
05/23/12	Section A 2 a, E 2 a	AS - 05/2012
09/19/13	Section A 2 b	AS – 05/2012 AS – 05/2013
3/25/2016	Section B and C	Per AD 1/2016
May 2016	Section E 2 b ii	AS – May 2016
11/11/2016	Section B 1 c, 3, C 1 c	AS – October 2016
5/25/2017	Section E 3 d (*d is currently e)	AS – April 2017
10/31/2018	Section E 3 b, Re-alpha b-h	AS – October 2018
03/24/20	Section E 6 and 7	AS – November 2019
03/24/20	Section A 1 a.	AS – March 2020
07/24/20	Section E	EAA – May 2020
07/24/20	Section A 1 a.	EAA – July 2020
08/20/20	Section A 1 a; 2 a and b; 5 b	EAA – July 2020 EAA – August 2020
05/25/21	Section E 2 c ii	AS-May 19, 2021
01/13/22	Section D 4	AS-Nay 19, 2021 AS – November 2021
01/13/22	Section E 3 d	AS – November 2021 AS – November 2021
01/13/22		AS – December 2021 AS – December 2021
7/25/22	Section E 2, E 3, E 5 Section A 2 a	AS – December 2021 AS – November 2021
	Section E 3 b 2	AS – November 2021 AS – December 2021
7/25/22 10/6/23		AS – December 2021 AS – September 2023
1/16/24	Section D1, E, F, F.2.f.1, G Section A2a, A3b, A5d, F4, F5bii, Appendices	AS – September 2023 AS – November 2023
1/10/24	I and II,	AS – November 2025
	all-remove gendered language	
1/27/25	Section A2a	Per D. Oliver & E. Anderbyrne- Updated to reflect current titles
4/5/25	Section F.5.b.ii.(a), F.5.b.ii.(b)	AS-March 2022
4/5/25	Section A2a	Removed a redundancy
4/27/25	Section F.3.a.i.	AS-April 2025
TI 2112J	50010111.3.4.1.	115 April 2025